IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN RICHARD THERRIEN, Petitioner, V. CASE NO.: SC03-2219 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 1DO1-3403 THE STATE OF FLORIDA, Respondent. PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Charles V. Peppler
Attorney at Law
Florida Bar No: 239739
14 W. Government Street, Room 411
Pensacola, Florida 32502
(850) 595-4970
Attorney for Appellant, John Richard Therrien

INTRODUCTION

The First District Court of Appeal has certified the following question as one of great importance:

WHETHER THE RETROACTIVE APPLICATION \mathbf{OF} **PERMANENT EMPLOYMENT** THE RESTRICTIONS OF **SECTION** 775.21(10)(b). FLORIDA STATUTES (2000), TO A DEFENDANT CONVICTED AND QUALIFIED AS A SEXUAL PREDATOR, WITHOUT A SEPARATE HEARING ONWHETHER SUCH DEFENDANT CONSTITUTES A DANGER OR THREAT TO PUBLIC SAFETY, VIOLATES PROCEDURAL DUE P R 0 \mathbf{C} \mathbf{E} S S

Therrien v. State, 859 So. 2d 585, 588 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS¹

Mr. Therrien was charged as a minor and prosecuted in adult court under a two count information alleging violation of § 794.011(2), Fla. Stat., a life felony, sexual battery of a victim less than 12 when the defendant is less than 18 years of age. The second count charged Mr. Therrien with violation of § 800.04, Fla. Stat., a felony of the second degree, lewd and lascivious assault on a child under the age of 16 years. The information charges the offenses as having taken place in November, 1996. (R.

¹ Mr. Therrien will refer to the record on appeal using the same designations as in the First District.

1). Mr. Therrien was arrested on March 7, 1997. (Progress Case Docket). After discovery, a negotiated plea was signed by Mr. Therrien on August 20, 1997. (R. 3-5). At the sentencing hearing on August 25, 1997, the trial court departed from the sentencing guidelines, without an appeal by State, and sentenced Mr. Therrien upon a plea of nolo contendere to attempted sexual battery by a person under 18 years of age upon a person under 12 years of age, a felony of the second degree, and to lewd and lascivious assault upon a child less than 16 years of age in violation of § 800.04, which is also a felony of the second degree. (R. 3-5, 7-8). The trial court imposed a sentence of withholding adjudication of guilt on each count and placing Mr. Therrien on 5 years probation, suspending a county jail sentence of 11 months, 15 days. The probation on each count ran concurrently. (R. 11-12).

Three years later, on September 29, 2000, State filed a motion for an order finding that Mr. Therrien qualifies as a sexual predator. (R. 17). Shortly thereafter, on October 7, 2000, State filed an amended motion for entry of an order finding that Mr. Therrien qualifies as a sexual predator, citing to §775.21, Fla. Stat. (amended October 1, 1998), Florida Sexual Predator Act (FSPA) that a person qualifies as a sexual predator if convicted of an attempt of a life felony if the victim is a minor and the defendant is not the victim's parent. (R. 18-19).

Under FSPA, § 775.21 (2001), a sexual predator must register with the Department of Corrections (DOC) and provide name, social security number, legal residence and place of employment. § 775.21 (6)(a)1. The DOC may require other information such as non-privileged legal treatment records and genetic markers. § 775.21 (6)(a)2. A sexual predator not in custody, such as Mr. Therrien, must provide a photograph and fingerprints to his local Sheriff who then provides this information to the DOC. § (6)(e). The sexual predator must also register at a driver's license office of the DHSMV and identify himself as a sexual predator. § (6)(f)1. The DOC then places this information on the internet for public inspection. §§ (6)(k)1 and 2 and (7)(c). Moreover, local law enforcement, once it becomes aware of the presence of a designated sexual predator, must notify the members of the community where the sexual predator lives, as well as day care centers and schools, within a one mile radius of the predator's residence. § (7)(a) and (d). The predator's name, address and specifics of his offense are also disseminated to the public. § (7)(a)1-5. Mr. Therrien is subject to this registration and notification for life until 20 years elapses and then he may petition a circuit court for removal of the designation if he meets certain criteria. § (6)(1). Finally, Mr. Therrien may not work or volunteer where children regularly congregate. § (10).

A hearing was held on the amended motion on October 25, 2000, in which the trial court permitted a memorandum of law to be filed by Mr. Therrien's counsel. (Progress Docket Printout). A second hearing took place on March 22, 2001, in which the trial court requested supplemental memoranda of law on the issue as to whether the Florida Sexual Predator Act (FSPA) violated the doctrine of separation of powers. (R. 27-41). An order was entered by the court reserving ruling and setting deadlines for submitting memoranda of law by Mr. Therrien's and State's counsel. (R. 43-44).

A supplemental memorandum of law was submitted by Mr. Therrien on April 15, 2001. (R. 45-81). The State submitted its supplemental memorandum of law on May 22, 2001. (R. 82-87). After reviewing the supplemental memorandum of law, the trial court entered the order under review, on August 7, 2001, finding that Mr. Therrien qualifies as a sexual predator. (R. 88-101). A notice of appeal with the First District Court of Appeal was timely filed. (R. 102).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The First District permitted Mr. Therrien to file a supplemental brief raising the issue that the FSPA was unconstitutional as it violated procedural due process guaranteed under Article I, Section 9 of the Florida Constitution and under Fourteenth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. Mr. Therrien argued that the FSPA gave him

no opportunity to appear at a hearing to show that he is not a danger or a threat to society and that his liberty interests in reputation and employment were taken without due process.

The First District then requested a second set of supplemental briefs with the advent of *Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 1, 123 S. Ct. 1160, 155 L. Ed. 2d 98 (2003) and *Smith v. Doe*, 538 U.S. 84, 123 S. Ct. 1140, 155 L. Ed. 2d 164 (2003). On November 25, 2003, the First District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in which it certified a question as one of great public importance as quoted above.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District wrongly applied the recent U.S. Supreme Court decisions to hold that the FSPA does not violate procedural due process. First, *Connecticut Dept.* of *Public Safety v. Doe*, held only that, under Connecticut's statutory scheme of sexual predator registration and notification, no requirement existed that the sexual offender be currently dangerous or pose any threat of danger. Distinguishing *Paul v. Davis, Wisconsin v. Constanineau*, and *Goss v. Lopez*, the supreme court found no deprivation of procedural due process because Connecticut's version of Megan's Law did not require sexual offender to prove lack of dangerousness, thus, no liberty

interest was implicated. Finally, the supreme court did not even reach the question of substantive due process because it was not asserted below.

By contrast, the FSPA has distinct and express legislative findings that sexual offenders who prey on children present an extreme threat to public safety. The findings use the terms "high level of threat that a sexual predator presents to the public safety" and sets forth a strategy to minimize or remove the risk. Not only are registration and community and public notification a part of FSPA, but Florida's Megan's Law prohibits sexual predators from working with children either for compensation or as a volunteer, which, if violated, is a felony of the third degree. Thus, the liberty interests implicated by these findings require a pre-deprivation hearing. Here, Mr. Therrien is being deprived of his good name and reputation as well as his ability to pursue a livelihood that may require him to come into contact with children or work in a location where children regularly congregate. Procedural due process mandates a hearing to determine if Mr. Therrien poses a danger or threat to society.

Smith v. Doe was also wrongly applied by the First District. In Alaska, the Megan's Law (ASORA) adopted by its legislature does not restrict jobs and activities of sexual offenders, thereby, neither implicating nor touching upon liberty interests. The supreme court also held that the ex post facto clause of the federal constitution

would not prevent retroactive application of the ASORA because it is civil in nature. Unlike ASORA, FSPA not only imposes community and public notification and registration, but also restricts the jobs and volunteer activities which Mr. Therrien could pursue as he cannot perform services either for remuneration or as a volunteer in places where children are taught or regularly congregate. Furthermore, *Smith's* holding that Alaska's Megan's Law is civil in nature does not have any impact on Florida's principles of statutory construction in determining the retroactivity of a civil statute. Florida's highest court has held that a civil statute will not be retroactively applied if it creates new obligations, impairs vested rights, or imposes new penalties unless the statute shows a clear intent for retroactive application. Assuming that FSPA is intended to be retroactively applied, it still must pass constitutional muster. FSPA fails to do so.

As described previously, Mr. Therrien committed his offenses and pleaded no contest to the charges of attempted capital sexual battery on a minor as well as lewd and lascivious act involving a minor before the FSPA was amended to make those particular offenses eligible for sexual predator treatment. This amendment is a substantive change to FSPA and imposes new life-long penalties and obligations on Mr. Therrien preventing him from pursuing a livelihood of his choice as well as imposing new obligations of registration in person and notifying authorities of his

whereabouts. These penalties and obligations deprive Mr. Therrien of procedural due process and should not be imposed on him.

Because the requirement for a separate hearing is central to the guarantee of procedural due process in light of the liberty interests at stake, the FSPA must be declared unconstitutional as amended and as applied to Mr. Therrien. This court cannot rewrite the FSPA and impose the requirement of a separate hearing before a trial court finds or designates a person a sexual predator. The only remedy for Mr. Therrien is a holding that the FSPA as amended and as retroactively applied to him is unconstitutional.

ARGUMENT

I. AMENDMENT OF FSPA, A CIVIL, REGULATORY STATUTE, WHICH BROADENS THE CRITERIA FOR SEXUAL PREDATOR STATUS MUST BE DECLARED UNCONSTITUTIONAL WHEN RETROACTIVELY APPLIED TO IMPOSE PERMANENT EMPLOYMENT RESTRICTIONS.

When Mr. Therrien entered his plea of no contest to the charges, as set forth in State's amended motion to find him a sexual predator, §775.21(4)(c), Fla. Stat. (1995), provided as follows:

For a current offense committed on or after October 1, 1996, upon conviction, an offender shall be designated as a "sexual predator" under subsection (5), and subject to

registration under subsection (6) (and community and public notification under subsection (7)) if:

1. The felony meets the criteria of former Sections 775.22(2) and 775.23(2), specifically, the felony is:

* * *

b. any second degree or greater felony violation of Chapter 794, s. 800.04..., and the offender has previously been convicted of or found to have committed or has plead nolo contendere or guilty to, regardless of adjudication, any violation of s. 794.011(2), (3), (4), (5), or (8) s. 794.023, S. 800.04, s. 827.071, s. 827.071, s. 847.0133, or s. 847.0145, or a similar law of another jurisdiction;

* * *

On October 1, 1998, §4(c) was changed substantially to read as follows:

* * *

- 1. The felony meets the criteria of former ss. 775.22(2) and 775.23(2), specifically, the felony is:
- a. A capital, life, or first degree felony violation of s. 787.01 or 787.02, where the victim is a minor and the defendant is not the victim's parent, or of Chapter 794 or s. 847.0145, or a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction;
- b. An attempt to commit a capital, life or first degree felony violation of chapter 794, where the victim is a minor, or a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction; or
- c. Any second degree or greater felony violation of s. 787.01 or s. 787.02, where the victim is a minor and the defendant is not the victim's parent; chapter 794; s. 796.03; s. 800.04; s. 825.1025(2)(b); s. 827.01; or s. 847.0145; or

a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction, and the offender has previously been convicted of or found to have committed, or has pled nolo or guilty to, regardless of adjudication, any violation of s. 787.01 or 787.02, where the victim is a minor and the defendant is not the victim's parent; s. 794.011(2), (3), (4), (5), or (8); s. 794.023; s. 796.03; s. 800.04; s. 825.1025; s. 827.071; s. 847.0133; s. 847.0135; or s. 847.0145, or a violation of a similar law of another jurisdiction.

Amended §4(c) broadens the criteria for sexual predator status by adding §775.21(4)(c) 1a. And b. which permits sexual predator status for those offenses without a predicate conviction. *Therrien*, 859 So. 2d at 586. The First District described the civil disabilities that Mr. Therrien, if designated a sexual predator must endure. He must register with the FDLE within 48 hours of entering a county to take up residence. 859 So. 2d at 586, citing §775.21(6). His name, appearance, address, details of the offenses and whether the victim is a minor is disclosed to the public by local law enforcement. Id., citing §775.21(10)(b). This court has also cataloged the numerous restrictions on a person's liberty once designated a sexual predator. State v. Robinson, ____So. 2d___, 2004 WL 524922, *4 (Fla. 2004). When an amendment has the effect of imposing new obligations and penalties, this court has refused to apply the amendment retrospectively. See, Hassen v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company, 674 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1996); Gupton v. Village Key and Saw Shop, 656 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1995). As FSPA is a civil, regulatory statute, then

amendments to it must be given prospective application. *See, Coblentz v. State of Florida*, 775 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 2d DCA 200), *rev. denied* 789 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 2001); *Angell v. State*, 712 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998).

Substantive provisions which are not present in preceding versions of the FSPA should not be retroactively applied to Mr. Therrien. *See, Collie v. State*, 710 So. 2d 1000, 1006-1008 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1998), *rev denied*, 722 So. 2d 192 (Fla. 1998), *cert. denied*, 525 U.S. 1058 (1998). The *Collie* court quoted from *McKibben v. Mallory*, 293 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1974) for the proposition that when re-enacted provisions are deemed to have been in operation continuously from the original enactment, additions or changes are treated as amendments effective from the time the new statute goes into effect. *Id.* at 1007. The substantive provisions broadening the criteria for designating a person a sexual predator had not been enacted at the time that Mr. Therrien either committed the offense or was sentenced. Therefore, the October 1, 1998 version of \$4(c)1.b. cannot be retroactively applied to Mr. Therrien because it exposes him to new obligations or new penalties under *State v. Robinson, Hassen* and *Gupton*.

It should be noted that no Florida court has construed the FSPA as a sentencing option or criminal punishment statute. The First District, as well as the Second, Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal, have observed that the sexual predator notification and registration requirement are part of civil, regulatory statutes so as to

avoid *ex post facto* implications. *See, State, DOC v. Goad*, 754 So. 2d 95, 98 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (citing *Kansas v. Hendricks*, 521 U.S. 346 (1997) and *Fletcher v. State*, 699 So. 2d 346, 347 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997)); *Burgos v. State*, 765 So. 2d 967 (Fla. 4th DCA, 2000); *Coblentz v. State of Florida*, 775 So. 2d 539 (Fla. 2nd DCA, 2000), *rev. denied*, 789 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 2001).

Although State may concede that the FSPA is a civil, regulatory statute and not a statute of criminal punishment, it may argue that it is procedural in nature and thereby can be applied retroactively. *See, Freeland v. State*, 832 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002) (citing cases). However, the criteria for determining a sexual predator is substantive in nature, see, *State v. Curtin*, 764 So. 2d 645 (Fla. 1st DCA, 2000). The First District in *Curtin*, even though it rejected the contentions of the putative sexual predator, announced: "[w]e find, contrary to Respondent's argument, that there is no ambiguity in this section regarding the substantive criteria for a court's finding of an offender's status as a sexual predator." 764 So. 2d at 647.

The FSPA is not a mere reporting statute, but imposes criminal penalties for failure to follow its restrictions on liberty. *See, Giorgetti v. State*, 821 So. 2d 417, 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). Moreover, the cases cited by *Freeland* had more to say about whether the FSPA and Florida's Sexual Offender act were criminal punishment statutes and not subject to the *ex post facto* clause, than whether the provisions of the

FSPA were procedural or substantive. See, Givens v. State, So. 2d 813, 815-816 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003) (holding that the sexual offender registration in § 943.0435 was not criminal punishment subject to ex post facto considerations)². The employment restrictions imposed on Mr. Therrien are substantive in nature. This court recognized in *Robinson* that labeling Mr. Therrien or any person as a predator is stigmatizing. 2004 WL 524922, *5. The label of predator coupled with tangible interests such as employment or altered legal status can lead to protections afforded by due process. Id. This court observed that the life-long registration requirements which subject a person to prosecution for a third degree felony for failure to adhere to these requirements coupled with a life-long restriction from working "where children regularly congregate" and the general opprobrium that accompanies the designation are more than adequate to establish stigma - plus factors infringing on liberty interests. *Id*. at *6, (citing to FSPA and cases). Consequently, this court held that the designation of sexual predator is a deprivation of "a protected liberty interest." *Id*.

Assuming that the FSPA clearly shows an intent to be applied retroactively, this court must still, as noted by the First District in its opinion below, determine as a

² The registration and notification requirements of FSPA and sexual offender registration under § 943.0435 are identical. *See*, *Jackson v. State*, 807 So. 2d 684 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002).

second step, "whether retroactive application is constitutionally permissible." 859 So. 2d at 587, (quoting from Metropolitan Dade County v. Chase Federal Housing Corporation, 737 So. 2d 494, 499 (Fla. 1999)). The First District's opinion in this case bottomed its decision that the FSPA should be retrospectively applied to Mr. Therrien because it was constitutionally permissible to do so relying on *Connecticut* v. Doe and Smith v. Doe, Id. at 588. However, the First District did not have the benefit of this court's analysis that the FSPA implicates liberty interests worthy of protection under due process guarantees. This court in Robinson alluded to the hearing prescribed in the FSPA to designate one a sexual predator as a "perfunctory step" on the way to designation. 2004 WL 524922, *5. The Third District in Espindola v. State, 855 So. 2d 1281, 1284 (Fla. 3d DCA), review pending (oral argument set October 7, 2004) observed that "the sole determination being made by the trial court, before designating a person a 'sexual predator' is whether that person had the prerequisite criminal conviction," citing § 775.21(5)(a)(1), Fla. Stat. The Third District in Espindola emphasized that, under Matthews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 348 (1976), procedural due process requires a government to act in a fair manner when there is a deprivation of a constitutionally protected interest, and held that the "total failure to provide for judicial hearing on the risk of defendant's committing future

offenses" violates procedural due process and requires the FSPA be held unconstitutional. 855 So. 2d at 1289-1290 (citing cases).

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