IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN RICHARD THERRIEN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. SC03-2219

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

ROBERT R. WHEELER
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0796409

THOMAS H. DUFFY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 470325

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 EXT. 4595 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: The Florida Sexual Predator Act is not unconstitutional because, by amendment it was made retroactive. Retroactive application of a regulatory statute is permissible when the statute gives notice that it is to be so applied. The Act expressly applies to all persons who committed certain crimes after October 1, 1993.

To the extent that Petitioner attempts to argue procedural due process, this Court should reject that argument. Procedural due process generally must be raised as applied to an individual, and as-applied challenges must be made to the trial court. Petitioner expressly waived this argument below. Even if he had not, the Act would not violate substantive due process.

ISSUE II: The Act does not violate procedural due process. The United States Supreme Court opinion in Connecticut Dep't of Public Safety v. Doe, 538 U.S. 1 (2003) controls. Doe held that a similar Connecticut statute, under which designated sex offenders were required to register as such and were identified on a website, did not violate due process for failure to provide a hearing on the issue of dangerousness. The only concern under the statute was, the Court held, whether the individual had been convicted of certain crimes; dangerousness was not an issue. As to the fact that Petitioner will be prohibited from seeking certain employment, the principle of prohibiting sex criminals from living or near children.

ISSUE III: There are no useful distinctions between Florida's act and those approved by the United States Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DOES THE 1998 AMENDMENT TO SECTION 775.21, FLORIDA STATUTES, VIOLATE SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS? (Restated)

A. JURISDICTION

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution, the court below having certified a question as being of great public importance. The Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to article V, section 3(b)(3), inasmuch as the decision below expressly and directly conflicts with Espindola.

B. PRESERVATION

Petitioner preserved this issue for appellate review as regards retroactive application of the statute; he expressly did not raise a substantive due process claim, however. I, 20-23.

C. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This issue presents a pure question of law, to be reviewed de novo.

D. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION

Circuit Judge John Kuder's order designated Petitioner a sexual predator. I, 88-101.

E. THE APPELLATE COURT'S DECISION

The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision, rejecting all five arguments made by Petitioner, and

certifying to this court the following question as being of great public importance:

Whether the retroactive application of the permanent employment restrictions of section 775.21(10)(b), Florida Statutes (2000), to a defendant convicted and qualified as a sexual predator, without a separate hearing on whether such defendant constitutes a danger or threat to public safety, violates procedural due process.

859 So. 2d at 588.

F. MERITS

The certified question should be answered in the negative. Retroactive application of a regulatory statute is permissible when the statute gives notice that it is to be so applied. The Act expressly applies to all persons who committed certain crimes after October 1, 1993.

To the extent that Petitioner attempts to argue procedural due process, this Court should reject that argument.

1. The Sexual Predators Act Applies Retrospectively.

Petitioner contends that the 1998 (and present) version of the Florida Sexual Predator Act does not apply to him because it affects substantive rights. The State respectfully disagrees. In fact the legislature may impair substantive rights, so long as it does so expressly, as happened here. Section 775.21(4) reads, in pertinent part:

- (4) Sexual predator criteria.-
- (a) For a current offense committed on or after October 1, 1993, upon conviction, an offender shall be designated as a "sexual predator' under subsection (5), and subject to registration under subsection (6)

and community and public notification under subsection (7) if:

1. The felony is:

a. A capital, life, or first-degree felony violation, or any attempt thereof, of s. 787.01 or s. 787.02, where the victim is a minor and the defendant is not the victim's parent, or of chapter 794, s. 800.04, or s. 847.0145

Thus, the legislature intended for all persons who committed certain sex crimes - including attempted sexual battery of a child less than 12 years old by a person less than 18 - to be subject to the registration and notification provisions of the Sexual Predator Act, so long as they committed the crimes after October 1, 1993.

It also is apparent, from subsection 5(c), that the fact that sexual predator status need not be declared at the time of sentencing.

the Department of Corrections, the department [of Law Enforcement], or any other law enforcement agency obtains information which indicates that an offender meets the sexual predator criteria but the court did not make a written finding that the offender is a sexual predator as required in paragraph (a), the Department of Corrections, the department, or the law enforcement agency shall notify the state attorney who prosecuted the offense for offenders described in subparagraph (a)1., or the state attorney of the county where the offender establishes or maintains a residence upon first entering the state for offenders described in subparagraph (a)2. The state attorney shall bring the matter to the court's attention in order to establish that the offender meets the sexual predator criteria.

The legislature clearly intended that anyone who could be designated a sexual predator, should be. This approach, of

course, is utterly consistent with the legislature's aim in passing the statute, which was to give Florida's citizens fair warning of the presence of dangerous people in their midst. §775.21(3), Fla. Stat.

This Court has succinctly stated the relevant statutory construction principles:

In summarizing our methods of statutory construction, we have often recited:

[L]egislative intent controls construction of statutes in Florida. Moreover, "that intent is determined primarily from the language of the statute [and] ... [t]he plain meaning of the statutory language is the first consideration." St. Petersburg Bank and Trust Co. v. Hamm, 414 So. 2d 1071, 1073 (Fla. 1982) (citation omitted). This Court consistently has adhered to the plain meaning rule in applying statutory and constitutional provisions. As we recently explained:

Florida case law contains a plethora of rules and extrinsic aids to guide courts in their efforts to discern legislative intent from ambiguously worded statutes. However, "[w]hen the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for resorting to the rules of statutory interpretation and construction; the statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." It has also been accurately stated that courts of this state are "without power to construe an unambiguous statute in a way which would extend, modify, or limit, its express terms or its reasonable and obvious implications. To do so would be an abrogation of legislative power." Holly [v. Auld], 450 So. 2d [217] at 219 [(Fla. 1984)] (citations omitted, emphasis added).

Public Health Trust of Dade County v. Lopez, 531 So. 2d 946, 948-49 (Fla. 1988) (citations omitted) (footnote omitted).

Florida Dept. of Bus. & Prof. Regulation, Div. of Pari-Mutuel Wagering v. Investment Corp. of Palm Beach, 747 So. 2d 374, 382-83 (Fla. 1999).

Thus, since this statute is plain and unambiguous, Petitioner's discussion as to whether the amendment impinged on substantive rights or imposed substantive duties is misplaced. The statute clearly makes sexual predator status applicable to him, and it is inappropriate to look further to divine legislative intent. Anyone convicted of certain crimes after October 1, 1993, is subject to the registration and notification provisions of the statute irrespective of when their sentencing hearing took place or what the Sexual Predators Act provided at the time their criminal activity took place.

Petitioner's argument ignores the crucial distinction between statutes that have no express statement as to applicability and those that do. Generally, it is true that statutes apply prospectively only, which explains the holdings in <u>Hassen v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company</u>, 674 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 1996) (construing subrogation statute as regards uninsured motorist insurance coverage) and <u>Gupton v. Village Key and Saw Shop</u>, 656 So. 2d 475 (Fla. 1995) (construing statute governing non-compete clauses in employment contracts).

As to <u>Coblentz v. State</u>, 775 So. 2d 359 (Fla. 2d DCA 2000), rev. denied 789 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 2001) and <u>Angell v. State</u>, 712 So. 2d 1132 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998), Petitioner's rationale for relying on this authority is unclear, inasmuch as both cases

express a viewpoint held by the Second District Court of Appeal that a post-conviction challenge to sexual predator designation should proceed through a separate civil proceeding. <u>Coblentz</u>, 775 So. 2d at 360; <u>Angell</u>, 712 So. 2d at 1132.

To the extent that those cases may give the impression that there is a relationship between the date of sentencing and the date that sexual predator designation was imposed, the 1998 amendment to the Act puts any such argument to rest, as the only relevant date is October 1, 1993. §775.21(4)(a), Fla. Stat.

Collie v. State, 710 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 2d DCA), cert. denied 525 U.S. 1058 (1998) is likewise misconstrued by Petitioner. IB at 11. The statute that the Collie court construed did not expressly make its provisions applicable back to 1993. The current statute does so; thus, the discussion in Collie involving McKibben v. Mallory, 293 So. 2d 48 (Fla. 1974) is inapplicable here.

Petitioner argues that even though the Act is a civil, regulatory statute, it is substantive, and not procedural. For this proposition he relies, in part, on a single sentence from State v. Curtin, 764 So. 2d 645 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000). IB at 12. He has taken this sentence out of context and misconstrued the court's use of the word "substantive."

The issue in <u>Curtin</u> was whether the statement of legislative intent in subsection 775.21(3)(a) limited sexual predator designation "to violent or repeat offenders and those who commit sex crimes against children" 764 So. 2d at 646. The

First District Court of Appeal resolved this issue by stating: "We find, contrary to respondent's argument, that there is no ambiguity in this section regarding the substantive criteria for a court's finding of an offender's status as a sexual predator." Id. at 647.

The "substantive criteria" the court was referring to are those set out in subsection 775.21(4). Those were "substantive" - i.e., the criteria the legislature had established - compared with the broader and more general statement of legislative intent. Calling those the "substantive criteria" does not mean that the court found that the statute was substantive as opposed to procedural.

Petitioner also argues that the court below was incorrect in concluding that the statute could be applied retrospectively because it did not violate procedural due process. IB at 13-14. He speculates that if the First District Court of Appeal had been able to read this Court's opinion in <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 873 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 2004) its result would have been different. IB at 13-14.

Not only does this assertion misapprehend the narrowness of the Robinson decision - which was based solely on the Act as applied to those guilty of kidnaping but whose crimes had no sexual component - and also misses the salient point of Connecticut Department of Public Safety v. Doe, 538 U.S. 1 (2003). In that case the United States Supreme Court considered whether Connecticut's sex offender registration act violated

procedural due process in the context of a liberty interest in reputation. The Supreme Court held, in essence, that it did not matter whether it did or not, because dangerousness was not material under Connecticut's statute. 538 U.S. at 7.

Robinson embraced the holding in Doe. En route to its narrow decision, the Court stated: "Under the Act, the sole criterion for determining whether a defendant must be designated a 'sexual predator' is whether the defendant was convicted of a qualifying offense." 873 So. 2d at 1212 (emphasis added). finding, by this Court, which brings Florida's act directly within the ambit of <u>Doe</u>. In <u>Doe</u> the Supreme Court rejected the procedural due process argument that the aggrieved offender was entitled to a hearing to determine current dangerousness because "the fact that respondent seeks to prove - that he is not currently dangerous - is of no consequence under Connecticut's Megan's Law. . . [Therefore, E]ven if respondent could prove that he is not likely to be currently dangerous, Connecticut has decided that the registry information of all sex offenders currently dangerous or not - must be publicly disclosed." 538 U.S. at 7 (citations omitted). As evidenced by this Court's holding in Robinson, Florida's Act applies solely by virtue of the qualifying conviction. As such, determinations of current dangerousness are not required by the Act, and the failure to provide for a hearing for such a determination does not constitute a denial of procedural due process.

Thus, the language from <u>Robinson</u> upon which Petitioner relies concerning the liberty interest in reputation would have had no effect on the court below because that question is not pertinent in deciding whether a statute violates procedural due process, and procedural due process and separation of powers were the constitutional grounds upon which Petitioner had challenged the statute.

2. The Act Does Not Violate Substantive Due Process.

To the extent Petitioner attempts (IB at 12-15) to argue substantive due process - a position he expressly forsook below, 859 So. 2d at 587, n. 3 - that argument is not persuasive.

At the outset, it should be noted that such a claim would have to be on a theory of facial constitutionality, inasmuch as it was not raised below and therefore could not be made under an "as-applied" theory. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So. 2d 1126, 1129-30 (Fla. 1983).

This provision is problematical for Petitioner. A facial challenge to a statute "must establish that no set of circumstances exists under which the Act would be valid." <u>United States v. Salerno</u>, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987). There are circumstances in which the Act can be validly applied.

The argument that the sexual predator designation improperly stigmatized someone, assuming, arguendo, it could be true in some circumstances, would be demonstrably untrue in others. For instance, the employment restrictions set forth in section 775.21(10)(b), apply to enumerated offenses therein, but, the

enumerated offenses do not include all offenses which would result in an individual being designated a sexual predator. Compare sections 775.21(4)(a)1. b. and 775.21(10)(b). Subsection (4)(a)1.b includes enumerated qualifying offenses of sections 825.1025 and 847.0135, neither of which qualifies for the employment restrictions that are a fundamental part Petitioner's complaint. Individuals may also be unemployable in the enumerated occupations for reasons independent of the employment restrictions in section 775.21, thus demonstrating that the Act is not unconstitutional in all of its possible applications. In still other circumstances criminal defendants, as part of their criminal case plea agreements, may acknowledge that they are "dangerous" sex offenders, thereby eliminating any conceivable basis for the defamatory stigma that is at the heart of Petitioner's argument.

Another instance where the Act, at a minimum, might remain constitutional absent a hearing to determine dangerousness is in the context of those individuals who are designated sexual predators under the Act as a result of having at least two convictions, thereby demonstrating their actual recidivism.

Thus, Petitioner is cannot prevail on a facial challenge based on substantive due process.

Even if he could challenge the Act under that theory, his claim would have no merit. In <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 873 So. 2d at 1214, this Court set out the applicable guidelines for substantive due process analysis:

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